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LEWIS A. KAPLAN, District Judge.

Plaintiff Virginia Robe_fté Giuffre brings this action against defendant Prince Andrew,
Duke of York, for battery and intentional infliction of emotional distress. -In short, she alleges that
the late Jeffrey Epstein and others trafficked her to Prince Andrew who fook advaniage of the

situation by sexually abusing her when she was under the age of cighteen,

Defendantrdenie's Ms. Giuffie’s allegations and attacks her credibility and motives.

He asserts that she was complicit in Epstein’s unlawful activities. But this is a motion to dismiss
Ms. Giuffre’s complaint as legally insufficient — not to determine the truth or falsity of charges in

her ¢ dinplaint. And defendant relies mainly, although notexclusively, on 22009 agreement between

Ms. Giuffre and Epstein that settled a different lawsuit, between Giuffre and Epstein, that defendant
now argues released him from any liability to Ms. Giufire.

The fact that defendant has brought the matter before the Court on a motion to
dismiss the complaint as Jegally insufficient is of central importance. As is well known to lawyers

__but perhaps not known to the lay public, the defendant — by making this motion — placed upon the

Court the unyielding duty to assume — for the purposes of this motion only — the truth of all of
plaintiff’s allegations and to draw in plaintiff’s favor all inferences that reasonably may be drawn
from those allegations.! In consequence, the law prohibits the Court from considering at this stage
of the proceedings defendant’s efforts to cast doubt on the truth of Ms., Giuffre’s allegations, even
though his efforts would be permissible at a trial. In a similat vein and for similar reasons, it is not

open to the Court now te decide, as a matter of fact, just what the parties to the release in the 2009

E.g., Littlejohn v. City of New York, 795 F.3d 297, 306 (2d Cir. 2015) ("On a motion to
dismiss, all factual allegations in the complaint are acespted as true and all inferences are
drawn in the plaintiff's favor,”); see Ahmed v. Cuecinelli, 792 F. App'x 908, 910 (2d Cir.
2020).
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settlement agreement signed by Ms, Giuffre and Jeffrey Epstein actually meant. As will appear

more fully below, the Court’s job at this junctufe is simply"t-b determine whether there are two or

more reasonable interpretations of that document. If there are, the determination of the “right” or

controlling interpretation must await further proceedings.

Facts

Except as otherwise noted, the facts are drawn from Ms. Giuffre’s complaint. It bears
repeating that its allegations are deemed true for purposes of this motion, whatever a trier of fact

ultimately might determine at a trial. -

The Epstein Sex Trafficking Scheme.
Plaintiffs allegations arise principally from a sex trafficking scheme orchestrated by
the late sex offender Jeffrey Epstein, which by now has been publicized widely. According to Ms.

Ginffre’s complaint, Epstein “sexually abused more than 30 minor girls . . .in the United States and.

overseas” from between about 1999 and 2007.2 In concert with paid employees and others — notably
Ghislaine Maxwell, who recently was convicted in this district of sex trafficking in connection with
the Epstein events® — Epstein and othets lured vulnerable young girls into a scheme of abuse for

Epstein’s own sexual gratification and for that of some of his powerful and wealthy friends.*

Complaint [Dkt. 1] (hereinafter “Cormpl.”) 4 (citing Opinien and Order, Dkt. 435 at 1-2,
Doe v. United States, No. 08-cv-80736 (KAM) (S.D. Fla. Feb. 21, 2019))..

United States v. Maxwell, No. 20-cr-0330 (AIN).

Compl. § 5.
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'Epstem relzed on Maxwell and others to 1dent11y and target vulnerable young. gzﬂs in nuUMErous

“abuse by Tpstem and others through dlsplays of wealth power and sexual i xmagery

setiings, including “schools, spas, trailer parks, and the street.” Epstein’s ¢ “recruiters” Inred these
girls into his orbit with the promise of what appeared to be legitimate masseuse positions. Once

mampulated intor retummg to one of Eps’cem S resxdences however the gxrls were (rroomed for

Om,e initial sexual abuse had occurred Epstem and Maxwell further mampulated the

victims with a combination of promises, threats, and surveillance.” At its height, Epstein’s sexual
abuse scheme, managed principally by Maxwell, was transcoritinental. Using his private jet,

Epstein trafficked dozens of minors for sexual abuse at his New York City mansion, his New

Mexico ranch, his private iéland in the U.S. Virgin Islands, his Palm Beachi, Florida, estate, and

elsewhere. In 2008, he pleaded guilty in Florida to procuring a minor for prostitution.*

Defendant’s Relations-hip with Epstein and Maxwell

through the former’s “close friend,” Ghislaine Maxwell.? Over the next several years, the defendant

traveled with Epstein and Maxwell on Epstein’s private plane and was a guest at Epstein’s numerous

4.9 19.
Id, 9920-21.
Id.§22.
Id. 9 49,

1d. 9 30.
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homes, including the private island in the U.S. Virgin Islands, Little St. James, and properties in Palm

Beach and New York City. Ejjste'in and Maxwell were gliests at the defendant’s fortieth biﬁhday
party in 2000 as well as at a'birthday patty that the defendant threw for Maxwell in Sandringham,

Umted ngdom in the same year

minor for prostzmtlon, the' defendant mwted E_pstem.. to the eighteenth birthday party of one of

I 2006 one month after Florida state p;eeecutors charged Epstem  with procurmg a

defendant’s daughters. As recently as 2010, and therefore after Epstein had done jail time in

conmection with the 2006 Flortda cbarges and reclstered as a sex oftender the defendant was

photographed w1th E‘pstem and stayed at Epstem s New York Clty mansmn

Epstein Recruits Plaintiff
Ms. Giuffre’s complaint continues:

Maxwell recruited Ms. Giuffre into Epstein’s sex trafficking activities in 2000, when

Ms. Giuffre was sixteen years old and employed at the Mar-A-Lago Club in Palm Beach." Like

other minor girls whom Epstein and Maxwell targeted, plaintiff initially was recruited to “provide
massages, and thereafter to engage in a variety of sexual acts, for Epstein.”™ From 2000 through
2002, plaintifftraveled frequently with Epstein, both within the United States and internationally, on

his private plane. In addition to being “on call for Epstein for sexual purposes,” plaintiff on other

1d. 9 50.
Id. 99 2, 24.

i ys.



occasions was “lent out to other powerful men,”” including the defendant.

Dcfendanf s Ai’leged Scxual Abme

The complamt alleges and the Court for present purposes is obhged to accept that

 the defendant sexually abused Ms. Gluffre when she was s under the age ot e1gh’teen years oId Onone o

occasion, deiendant ailegedly forced plaintitf to have SeX w1th him agamst her wiil. at Maxwell $

home in London. Ms. Giuffre’s complaint includes a reproduction of a now widely published

photo graph of Ms Gauﬂre Prince Andrew and Maxweli at Maxwell s home, Whlch plamtlfi says

was taken prior to that even:c.‘4 On another occasion, defendant alle gedly abused Ms. Giuffre during

a visit to Epstein’s privaie island, Little St. James.
Ms. Giuffre alleges also that defendant abused her at Epstein’s mansion on the Upper

East Side of Manhattan, which lies. within this judicial district. During that particular encounter,

Maxwell forced “[p]laintiff, a child, and another Victim to sit on Prince Andrew’s lap as Prince

_Andrew touched her.”” During this visit to New York, according to the complaint, the defendant

forced Ms. Giuffre to engage in sex acts against her will and was aware both of her age and that she
was a coerced sex-trafficking victim."
In each of these encounters, plaintiff alleges, Epstein, Maxwell, and the defendant

compelled her to engage in sexual acts by express or implied threat. In consequence, plaintiff feared

id

1d. 4 38.

Id. 939.

Id. 1 41-48.



death or physical injury to herself or anotber, among other repercussions, if she disobeyed."”

Ms. Giuffre asserts that the defendaﬁt’s actions caused and continue to cause her

significant emotional and psychological distress and harm.

The Flovida State Prosecution and the Federal Non-Prosecufion Agreement
g

At this point, itis helpful and appropriate to refer to facts not alleged in the complaint

in this case but of which the Court takes judicial notice.®

charge remained pending until _rnid;2008.
As previously noted, defendant’s motion in this case relies heavily on the 2009
agreement between Epstein and Ms, Giuffre, which already is before the Court as a matter of judicial

notice (the “2009 Agreement™).** The 2009 Agreement contains the following paragraph:

1d. g 41

The Court takes judicial notice only to the extent of the facts set forth in this section of this
opinion dnd, in the case of documents, for the existerice or contents of the documents, but
wot for the truth of assertions the documents contain, See Int re SKAT Tax Refund Scheme
Litig., No. 18-CV-05053 (LAK), 2020 WL 7496272, at *3 (8.D.N.Y. Dec. 21, 2020).

Indictment, Siate v. Epstein, No. 06-9454CF (FL Cir. Ct. July 19, 2006), reprinfed in U.S.
Dep’t of Just., Off. of Pro. Resp., Report - Tnvestigation into the U.S. Attorney’s Office for
the Southern District of Florida's Resolution of Its 2006-2008 Federal Criminal
Investigation of Jeffrey Epstein and Iis Interactions with Victims during the Investigation,
Ex. 1 (Nov. 2020). The OPR Report contains a great deal of information about how the
NPA came to pass. But the Court does not take judicial notice of its statements or comsider
it in deciding this motion.

Dkt. 57 (taking judicial notice of Dkt. 32, Ex, A).
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“Firstand Second Partiest?" further stipulate and agree that this Settlethent Agreement

—— == ispursuantto and is in fulfillment of Jeffrey Epstein’s obligations to Virginia Roberts™

[Giuffre] . . . pursuant to and in conformity with the Non-Prosecution Agreement, its
Addendum, and its Affirmation . . . between Jeffrey Epstein and the United States
Attorney for the Southern District of Florida.™

Thus, the terms of the non-prosecution agreement (the “NPA™) may shed light on the meaning of the

2009 Agreement, The Court thercfore takes judicial notice of the NPA, its addendum, and

affirmation.?

For present purposes, the following terms of the NPA are of possible interest here:
L. Epstein agreed to plead guilty to the Florida State Indictment and to & staie

Information charging him with solicitation of minors to engage in prostitution.

2. The U.S. Attomey’s office agreed to provide Epstein’s attorneys “with a list
of individuals whom it ha|d] identified as victims, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 2255” and, “in

consultation with and subject to the good faith approval of Epstein’s counsel, [would] select an

21

The agreement defines the term “First Parties” to mean “Virginia Roberts [nfic/a Giuffte] and
her agent(s), attorney(s), predecessor(s), successor(s), heir(s), administrator(s), and/or
assign(s).” It defines the term “Second Patties” to mean “Jeffrey Epstein and his ageni(s),
attorney(s), predecessor(s), successor(s), heir(s), administrator(s), assign(s) and/or
employees(s).” For case of expression, unless otherwise indicatéd or the context otherwise
requires, the batance of this opinion uses the term “Ms, Giuffre” to refer collectively to Ms.
Giuffre and the others included in the defined term “First Parties,” Similarly, it uses the term
“Epstein” to refer collectively to Epstein and the others included in the defined term “Second
Parties.”

2

Dkt 32, Ex. A at 2.

See Non-Prosecution Agreement [hereinafter “NPA”], Dkt. 36162, Doe v. United States,
No. 08-cv-80736 (KAM) (S.D. Fla. Feb. 10, 2016).



3. Epstein agreed that, if one or more of the individuals whom the government

had identified as victims elected to sue Epstein under 18 U.S.C. § 2255, Epstein would not contest

“Tn addition, he would “waive]] his right to contest damagos up to an amount as agreed to between the

jdentified individual and Epstein, so long as the identified individual elect[ed] to proceed exclusively

under 18 U.S.C. § 2255, and agree[d] to waive any other claim for damages, whether pursuant (o
state, federal, or common law.”” Epstein’s waivers, however, would not apply to anyone who had

not been identified by the government as a victim or, having been so identified, did not proceed

exclusively under 18 U.S.C. § 2255.

4, The U.S. Attorney’s oftice agreed that it would not prosecute Epstein nor
“institute any criminal charges against any potential co-conspirators of Epstein, including but not
1%mited to” four speciﬁcauy idenﬁged persons if Epstein pleaded _guilty to the F Io_r_iéa charges anc_l B

 otherwise discharged his obligations under the NPA* L

The NPA bears signatures dated variously in late September and in October 2007. Ms.

Giuffre’s complaint alleges that Epstein pled guilty to the Florida information (and presumably the

indictment) in 2008.7
1
Id at 4,
2
Id.
26
Id ats.
27

Compl. 4 49.



e Gie's Forda Surdga s

| In May 200.9:“,“ while Epstein was incarcerated in Patm Beéch County, Florida, as a
résult of his guilty plea fo ﬁlé_ “Florida state _charges,. Ms. Giufire sﬁed'Epste_in m -t.he_ United Sfafes
" Distict Court for the Southern District 6f Fltida (the “Florida Case”) imder 18 U.S.C. § 2255 as an

.a] legéd victim of I;Z_pste'in’ 5 alléged fe_dérf;l “sex tr;c{fﬁckin'g, sexual -é::aplo itation, and child poimo gﬁéphy

oftenses.”® Her complaint asserted that Epstein and Epstein’s “adult male pegts, including royalfy,
politicians, academicians, businessmer, and/or other professional and personal acquaintances,” had

sexually exploitécuinile.r.z? _

Ms. Giuffre and Epstein entered into the 2009 Agreement, entitled Settlement
Agreement and General Release, pursuant to which G_iuffre voluntarily dismissed her action against
Epstein in exchange for $500,000.%° The defendant argues that Ms. Giuffre’s claims against him are

barred by the terms of the 2009 Agreement.

The Federal Criminal Case Against Epsiein

On July 2, 2019, a grand jury in this district indicted Epstein for an alleged sex

See Complaint, Jane Doe No. 102 v. Epstein, No. 09-cv-80656 (KAM) (3.D. Fla. May |,
2009) (hereinafter “Florida Compl.”}

Id 921,

See Final Order of Dismissal, Dkt. 65, Jane Doe No. 102, No. 09-cv-80656 (IKAM) (5.D.
Fla. Dec. 8, 2009).
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tra!’ﬁcking -bénspiracjf and thé substantive.crime of sex tréffic;king in 'v-iolatioh.ub,f 18U.S.C. §. 1 591 2!

He was anested"’bﬁﬁly 8, 2019 On # August 10, 2019 bpstem was found dead in his cell af the

Metropolitan Correctional Center.”

The 2009 Agreement is the crux of defendant’s motion. Itcontains six and a frécﬁﬁon

pages of substanfivetext consisting of nine individually Tabeled provisions. These are an agreeinent
to dismiss the Florida Case (§ 1), a one and one-half page ‘provision captioned “general release” that

contains addltlonal covenants beyond the releasmg Ianguage (§ 2), a payment secnon (§ 3) a

conﬁdentlahty provision (§ 4), covenants dealing with maintaining Ms. Gluffre § anonymity (§ 5),
a “no contact” covenant (§ 6), a provision relating to governing law and enforcement of the
agreement (§ 7), a clause concerning attomeys’ fees (§ 8), and a collection of miscellaneous
p10v1smns (§ 9)

A number of these prov151ons bear meortantiy on thc resolutlon of thlS motion and

are discussed in detail below so there is no need to quote or summarize them in great detail here.

Suffice it to say by way of introduction that:

. This motion raises two pivotal issues regarding the 2009 Agreement:

Whether the 2009 Agreement demonstrates that its releasing language
in Section 2 unambiguously applies to this defendant and, if so,

. Whether the defendant — who is not a party to nor mentioned in the

See Indictment, Dkt. 2, United States v. Epstein, No. 19-CR-490 (RMB) (S.D.N.Y. July 2,
2019).

32

Compl. § 56.



agreement — is entitled to invoke it:

. .Thc 2009 AgTeement is far from a model of clear and precme draﬁlng Both

sides agree that Epstem and Ms Glufﬁe ag-reed to its language. [t must have '

meant something to them._ But Ms. Giuffre and the defendant in this case

disagree emphatically as to what it meant with respect to both issues.

Dzscusswn

L Dismissal on the Basis of z‘he 2009 Agreement Is Not Juatzjted on this Motion
A. Legal Principles

1. Maz‘errals Properly Conszdered

allegations of the complaint without regard to any extraneous claims or materials.

The defendant moves to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(‘0){6) ‘Asnoted previously, the
Court, in this posture, must accept as true all well pleaded factual allegations in the complaint and,
draw “dll reasonable inferences that can be drawn from [them] in the light most favorable to the
plaintiff.”*  With limited exceptions, the motion must be decided solely on the basis of the
The 2009 Agreement neither appears in nor is referred to in the complaint. But the
copy before the Court concededly is authentic. Its wording (as distinguished from its legal effect)

is undisputed, and the Court consequently has taken judicial notice of it  Moreover,

33

Lynchv. City of New York, 952 F.3d 67, 75 (2d Cir. 2020) (citations arid internal quotation
marks omitted).

34

See, e.g., Alt. Energy, Inc. v. St Paul Fire and Marine Ins. Co., 267 F.3d 30, 33 (1st Cir.
2001) (“Ordinarily, a court may not consider any decuments that are outside of the
complaint, or not expressly incorporated therein, unless the motion is converted into one for
summary judgment. There is, however, a narrow exceplion for documents the quthenticity
of which are not disputed by the parties; for official public records; for documents central
to plaintiffs' claim; or for documents sufficiently referred to in the complaint.”) {citations and
internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis added).
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notvvithstanding the geﬁéfﬁl rule that 'Iaﬁ-_éfﬁnnétivej defensc is nbfconsidered at this stégé of the

htl gatlom Such a defense may be raised by a pre-answer motion to dlSil’llSS under Ruie I Z(b)(é) T

. if the defense appears on the face of the complamt.”” And while the defendant’s argument does

iot rest on the face of the complaint, here that is a distinction without a difference in light of the fact

“that the wording of the 2009 A greement (Again, as distinguished o1 its lopal effect) is acoepted by

both partles Accordmgply thf: Coutt cons;dels defendant’s aroument

2, Governing Law

The 2009 Agreement p: 0v1des that it “shall be govemed by the laws of the’ State of

TFlorida,” The parties agree. Accordmgly the Court apphes Florida law to the two pwotai questions

that bear on the defendant’s release argument.

B. Analyszs of the 2009 A greemem

1. W?zerher the Defendanr IS Among rhe Pw port‘edly Relea:s ed Persom

We begin by focusing on the first two pages of the 2009 Agreement, which contain
Sections 1 and 2.

Section 1 contains the agreement of plaintiff and Jeffrey Epstein to dismiss plaintiff’s
Florida Case upon receipt of a mopetary payment.® Section 2, which occupies one and one-half
t_ypewritten pages, contains, among other things, language bﬁf which “First Parties” (generally, Ms.

Giuffre and some others) released “Second Parties” (generally, Epstein and some others) and

Pani v. Empire Biue Cross Blue Shield, 152 F.3d 67,74 (2d Cir. 1998).
36

it is undisputed that ““Jane Doe No. 102" referred to Ms. Giuffre and that her identity was not
revealed in the complaint in the Florida Case.




13

‘;ény other pers_oh or entity W_ho could have been iilnchide,d as a potential defendant

__{*Other Potential Defendants’) from all, and ali manner of [claims] that said_First

therefore was released by Ms. Giuffre from “all, and all manner of,” claims that she “ever had”

Prrties evet Fad . . or &y have, agaist Jeffrey Epstein, ot Other Potential

Defendants . . ..”

The defendant insists that he was among the “Other Potential Defendants” and .

_ againsthim. Ms. Giuffre maintains with equal adamancy that he was not among the “Other Potential

Defendants” that the parties to the. 2009 Agreement had in mind.

The basic principlés of Florida law that govern this aspect of the parties® dispute are

clear. Unless contract language is “unambiguous and free of conflicting inferences,” ambiguity

——*must-be resolved as a question of fact¥ In-other-words, unless the terms of-an agreement leave

1o reasonable doubt about the intent of the contracting parties, the ambiguity must be resolved by the

trier of fact,® ordinarily a trial jury. The Court may not resolve any such ambiguity on a motion to

dismiss the complaint.

agreement; in whole or by its‘terms and conditions, is “reascnably susceptible to-more than one -

Whether a contract is ambiguous “is a question of law™* — specifically, whether the

37

38

39

Soncoast Cmty. Churéh of Boca Raton, Inc. v. Travis Boating Ctr. of Fla., Inc., 981 So. 2d
654, 655 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2008) (quoting No. Star Beauty Salon, Inc. v. Arizt, 821 So. 2d
356, 358 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2002)). This principle is subject to an exception, ot relevant
on this motion, that the court may resolve the ambiguity as a matter of law where that can
be done by undisputed parol evidence of the parties” intent. Decoplage Condo. Ass'n, Inc.
y. Deco Props. & Invs., Inc., 971 So. 2d 860, 861 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2007).

See Berkowitz v. Delaire Country Club, Inc., 126 So. 3d 1215, 1219 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
2012); Neumann v. Brigman, 475 So. 2d 1 247, 1249 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1985); see also
Talbottv. First Bank Fla., FSB, 59 So. 3d 243, 245 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2011) (“When a
contract is ambiguous, an issue of fact is created that cannot he resolved by summary
judgment.”).

No. Star Beauty Salon, Inc., 821 So. 2d at 358,




14

interpretation.™ That is so even where both sides itisist that_ianguége is unambigudﬁs but ascribe

materially different meanings to it."
Int this case, everyone agrees that the phrase “could have been included as a potential

defendant (‘Other Potential Defendants”)” mustmean something. No doubt that is'so. Noris {here-

In fact, however, the meaning of the phrase is far from self evident for a number of feasons.

orch doubt it better diaffing probably could have climinated any tincertainty as to the méaning. ~

“We perhaps should begin with the question of what was meant by “could have been
included as a poteniial defendant” — as opposed to “could have been included as a defendant.™

One might suppose that whether one was, ot could have been, included as a defendant

- not included as a “potential” defendant — is clear enough, although even that seemingly simple
supposition, as we will see, is not accurate in the context of this case. But the concept of inclusion
“as a potential defendant” is even Jess capable of definition. If the quoted language from Section 2

of the 2009 Agreement — that s, the phrase “could have been included as a potential defendant”™ —

40

Lambert v. Berkley S. Condo. Ass'n, 680 So. 2d 588, 590 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1996}; see
Miller v. Kase, 789 So. 2d 1095, 1097-98 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2001).

41

Killearni Homes Ass'n, Inc. v. Visconti Fam. Ltd., 21 So. 3d 51, 53-34 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App.
2009).

Indeed, we might have begun with the fact that the 2009 Agreement defines “Other Potential
Defendants™ as “any other person or entity who could have been included as a poteatial
defendant™ without specifying in what. Defendant’s brief sought to solve that problem by
asserting that the 2009 Agreement “defines ‘Other Potential Defendants’ as ‘any other
person or entity who could have been included as a potential defendant’ in Giuffre s lawsuit
against Epstein” despite the fact that the italicized words do not appear in the 2009
Agreement. Def. Mem., Dkt. 31 at 13 (emphasis added). Plaintiff, however, takes the same
view. See Pl. Mem., Dkt. 43, at 10 (“The 2009 Release, by its terms, encompassed only
claims against Epstein and ‘Other Potential Defendanis’ ‘who could have been included as
a potential defendant® in the Florida Complaint.”). Accordingly, the Court accepts the
parties’ agreed gloss on this point for purposes of this motion.
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was intended to mean someone who was not actually a defendant when. the 2009 Agreemér_l-t was

igned, but who might have been made a

as an actual defendant, then the word “potential” would be entirely superfluous. That is so because

the language would mean ¢xactly the same thing with or without the word “potential,” Put another

“sotential” entirely.

" way, the phrase under consideration would mean exactly the same thing even if one deleted thé word

defendant previously if {he plaintiff had fiamed him or her

T35 a basic rule of contrictual construction that a contract should be construed,

whenever possible, in a manner that gives meaning to every word and phrase.*” The presumption is

that contracting partics do not include words ot phrases for no purpose.** Nevertheless, the parties

have briefed this matter as if the word “potential” wete not in the agreement at-all. And asthe Court

sees no other appropriate course, it will do so as well. It sees no way to construe it in a magner that

would give non-redundant meaning to the word “potential.”

So we come to the question of what was meant by the phrase “could have been

included as a . . . defendant.” At one level, of course, literally anyone “could have been included .

See, e.g., Golden Door Jewelry Creations, Inc. v. Lioyds Underwriters Non-Muarine Ass'n,
117 F.3d 1328, 1338 (11th Cir. 1997) {applying Florida law); Premier Ins. Co. v. Adams,
632 So. 2d 1054, 1057 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1994); see gemerally 11 WILLISTON ON
CONTRACTS § 32:5 (4th ed.) (“To the extent possible, and except to the extent that the pasties
manifest a confrary infent, by stating, for example, that recitals or headings are not to be
considered or given effect in détermining the meaning of their agreement, every word,
phirase or term of a contract must be given effect.”).

Fla. Inv. Grp. 100, LLC v. Lafont, 271 50.3d 1, 5 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2019) (“[N]o word
or part of an agreement is to be treated as a redundancy or surplusage if any meaning,
reasonable and consistent with other parts, can be given to it.”) (quoting Royaul Am. Realty,
Irc. v. Bank of Palm Béach & Tr. Co., 215 So. 2d 336, 338 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1968)); see
generally RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 203 (1981).
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.. as a defendant.”™ ¥ the pléintiff had wished to includé someone .els"é‘- — anyone else — as &

detfendant, she easily could have done so. Someone can be included as a defendant in a lawsuit

simply by including that person’s name in the caption of a complaint.*® Nothing else is tequired. But
neither party takes that position despite the fact it would be consistent with the literal termslof the

2009 Agréement Rathct, defendant afgues that he “could have been included” aé a “potential

defendant” in.the Florida Case because Ms. Giuffre made a general reference 1o “royalty” in her _

Florida complaint, even though it did not name Prince Andrew asa defendant nor even mention his

name.

Plaintiff rejoins that Prince Andrew could notihaVe been included“as g defendant m

;he Florida gase; because (1) he was not subject to personal jurisdiction theré aﬁd; man}:(,ase, (2) the.
claims that plaintiff brought against Epstein in the Florida Case were based solely on 18 U.S.C. §
2255 % which created a federal civil cause of action in favor of anyone who, while a minor, was
injured in consequence of a violation of any of any of several federal criminal statates.”® Asto the

atter, she contends that Prince Andrew could not have been sued in the Florida Case under any of

43
The defendant so conceded at argument. See Transcript (hereinatter “Tr.”), Jan. 4,2022, at
5.

46
See FED, R. Ctv. P. 10(a).

For a clear (though misguided) illustration of this point, see Craig v. Pope John Paul 11,
Civil Action No. 100824, 2010 WL 1994620, at *1 (D.D.C. May 18, 2010} (naming “Pope
‘John Paul 1 in Heaven with God,” Pope Benedict XV, ‘the Holy Mother Roman Catholic
Church,” and many Cardinals and Archbishops and Bishops of the Roman Catholic Church”
as defendants and seeking $3 trillion, $9 million in damages).

47
Florida Compl. § 32.
48

18 U.S.C. §§ 1589, 1590, 1591, 2241(c), 2242, 2243, 2251, 22514, 2252, 22524, 2260,
2421, 2422, or 2423,
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the Section 2255 predicate statutes because there was no basis for doing so.

The parties’ respective positions show that they agree that thé Telease language =1t
the phrase “could have been included as a . . . defendant” — applies only if there s a nexus between
the person in question and the claim Ms. Giuffre made against Epstein in the Florida Case. They

“disagree, however, as to the nature of the requisite nexus.

The defendant argues thai the nexus is supplied by plaintiff’s coniﬁléint in the Florida

Case.™ Tt charged Jefitey Epstein, to quote the defendant i1 this case, wilh “sex-trafficking anid
sexual abuse.”® 1t alleged that girls whom Epstein trafficked were abused by others, including

unspecified “royalty.”' That, defendant submits, is enough.

From the plaintiff's standpoint, defendant’s position is too ex{rerﬁ;VAs noied, the
Florida complaint did not mention Prince Andrew. Moreover, Ms. Giuffre argues in substance that
one “could have been included as a . . . defendant” (1) only if that could have been done on the same
hasis as the claim in the Florida Case was made against Epstein - violation of one or more of the.
7%670'5'10.11_2_2“?5 predic_éate criminal s_‘téfﬁiés — and even then (2} 6111y if thaé personr would ﬁave been
subject to the personal jurisdiction of the Florida court. Yet there is no basts for conclﬁding tha_t

defendant would have been subject to the personal jurisdiction of the Florida court.” Nothing in Ms.

49
Asthat complaint was filed in the Florida Case, the Court takes judicial notice of its words,
not for the truth of the allegations, but for the fact that they were uttered on behalf of the
plaintift.

50
Dkt. 31, at 2.

51
Florida Compl. [ 21.

52

In 2009, when the Florida Case was settled, the Florida Jong-arm statute in rejevant part
permitted the exercise of personal jurisdiction over a non-resident in circumstances such as
those in issue here only if the claim arose from the commission of a torticus act within the
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Giuffre’s Florida compieﬁnt indicates that the defendant violated any of the Section 2255 predicates.

T Nor is its reference to “royalty” sutficient o remedy this absence. The crux of thie Florida Case was—

that Epstein harmed Ms. Giuffre by trafficking her for sex with himself and with others. Indeed,

defendant’s counsel made clear at oral argument his view that the complaint against Epstein was that

‘Epstein “wafficked [Ms. Giuffre] to a number of individials, foreed her to sex slaveryyand ...

forced [her] to

have sex or be sexually abu-sed: b;manypeop]e,;ncludmg_ members of academia,

including businessmen and the category of Toyalty.”® Y¢ctihete is no su

that this defendant was himself engaged in sex trafficking.

roestion in the Florida Case

In considering whether the only reasonable interpretation of the phrase “could have

heen included as a . . . defendant” is the one advanced by the defendant —i.e., that it would inherently

be unreasonable to construe that phrase as referring only to persons who

could have been sued in the

Florida Case on essentially the same theory as was Epstein and over whom the Florida court could

have exercised personal jurisdiction — it is helpful also to consider the context in which the 2009

State of Florida. See FL. STAT. ANN. § 48.193(1)(b) (2007); Beta Drywall Acquisition, LCC
v. Mintz & Fraade, P.C., 9 So. 3d 651, 653 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2009) (discussing then-FL.
STAT. ANN. § 48.193(1)(b)). But nothing in the Plorida complaint (nor any of the other
materials properly before this Court) alleges that Ms. Giuffre had a claim against this
defendant arising out of the commission by him of any tortious act in Florida. Defendant’s
contention that the Florida court nevertheless could have exercised personial jurisdiction on
a co-conspirator theory, Dkt. 52 at 4-6, overlooks the fact that the Florida complaint, which
was limited to asserting specific violations by Epstein of certain federal criminal statutes,
does not allege that Pririce Andrew conspired with Epstein to commit any of them. The
general reference to conspiracy “with others, including assistants and/or [Epstein’s]
driver(s) and/or pilot(s), and his socialite friend/partner, Ghislaine Maxwell, to further
[Epstein’s] acts,” Florida Compl. § 16, would not haye been a sutficient basis for the
exercise of personal jurisdiction over Prince Andrew. See United Techs. Corp. v. Mazer,
556 F3d 1260, 1282 (11th Cir. 2009) (F[Alny conspiracy-based exercise of personal
jurisdiction must be founded on conduct committed in Florida by others that can be

attributed to [defendant] as a co-conspirator.”).

Tr., Jan. 4, 2022, at 3:20-24,
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Agreement was signe‘d to the extent contekt can be ascertained on ’thme_"present record.

respect to the speciﬁc terms of the 2009 Agreement.. Hypothetically, we can imagine what someoze

in Epstein’s position might have thought at the time this agreement to settle the Florida Case was

‘made. At least some of the 'gdéls of a. such person prééﬁmablynwourld' have beeirto end the Florida

Of course, we do not know What 11' anythmg, went through the partles mmds thh‘“

in the future, and to do so for an acceplable price. In other WOIdS, a possible concern coi’il?;ﬂiave’ been”

that (1) Ms. Giuffre, having settled with Epstein, would stie someong else (2) who, in turn, might

make a c]azm agamst Epstem (a ‘Claim (}ver”) based on a contention that Epstem should bear or, at

least contribute to, any liability that person mlght be found to have to Ms Gmifre Obtammg a
release from Ms. Giuffre of claims against such a person therefore could eliminate the possibility of
a Claim Over against Epstein. But the objectives of one in Epstein’s position were unlikely to have
been shared by the other contractmg party, an individual in Ms. Giuffre’s position. And that matters.
as much money as she could for settling the ¢ase and keeping as much of her freedom to go after
other alleged wrongdoers as she could keep while still getiing an acceptable sum of money. Limiting
the release language to persons who could have been sued in a particular court on a particular type
of elaimi could secure that freedom to a substantial degree.

The logic of the situation thus suggests that the parties to the 2009 Agreement had
competing goals, and the muddled relcase language that they agreed upon suggests that they may
have arrived at something of a middle ground: a release extending not as broadly as Epstein ideally
may have wanted and somewhat more broadiy than would have been a “best cage” outcome for Ms.

Giuffre. Moreover, it would not be unreasonable to recognize, among other considerations, that the

The ;Doais of onein Ms Gluffrc S posmon hypothetlcaﬂv could have’ mcluded gettlng




20

setilement amount may have been affected by the views of both parties concerning the terms of the

.

possible release of other persons or, short of that, clearer language concerning the nexus between

“Other Potential Defendants” and claims in the Florida Céée.

 Theie are additional consideratins supporting the reasonablencss of plantiff's

interpretation of the éhraéei“coﬁa_ﬁave been included as . . defendant . . . For one th_lng, the

release. Epstein perhaps would not have been willing to pay a price demanded for the broadest—

Florida Cas¢ was brought il a federal court. Thesole alleged basis ol federal jurisdiction was Sectiof
2955 of Title 18 ofthe United States Codé, which confers subject matter jurisdiction on fedetal courts

only with respect to claims based on alleged violations of certain federal criminal statutes. The

complaint in the Florida Case specifically alleged that Epstein had committed a number of such
violations. But it nowhere alleges that this defendant committed any.>* Tt not clear that a ¢laim in

the Florida Case against this defendant would have been within the subject matter jurisdiction of the

Florida court, even on a co-conspirator” or supplemental jurisdiction theory.” It is questionable

T B [ P - PR S JR— O —— —— PR .

Neither does her present complaint. Defendant argues in conclusory fashion that “Giuffre
could have sued him directly for viclating section 2423" in the Florida Casc. Dkt 52 at 5.
But on their face, plaintiff's allegations, taken as true, would not establish the “transports™
slemesnt of § 2423(a), the “purpose of travel” element of § 2423(b), the naturalization
element of § 2423(c), or the “commercial advantage” eclement of § 2423(d). Nor would her
allegations, taken astrue, have established an unlawful agreement to accomplish one o1 more
of the predicate offenses, nor action intended to facilitate those violations that plaintiff
attributed' to Epstein in the Florida Case. The Court would need to draw numerous
inferences in the defendant’s favor to adopt his view that plaintiff's claims should. be
dismissed on the theory that she would have had viable § 2255 claims against Prince Andrew
in the Florida Case, whether on a direct or vicarious liability theory.

it
A

Prince Andrew’s assertion, first made in his reply memorandumm, that Ms. Giufire’s
complaint in this action “alleged that Prince Andrew aided and abetted Epstein’s
federal sex-trafficking erimes and was Epstein’s co-conspirator in the alleged
criminal enterprise,” a proposition for which he cites eight specific paragraphs of the
complaint, Dkt. 52, at 5, cannot be taken at anything approaching face value.



also whether the Florida court could have exercised personal jurisdiction over this defendant, even

“assuniing that sibjéct matter jurisdiction existed.

21

In the last analysis, itis not now the Court’s function to decide which party’s view of

~The first paragraph cited (4 24) does not even mention Prince Andrew, The second -

through fifth (§f 30-31, 34-35) allege no more than that Prince Andrew has said he

fitst met Epstein in-1999 through Maxwell, thatthe defendant has been photo graphed

with Maxwell at social events, that defendant has flown with Epstein and Maxwelt
on Epstein’s plane to various locations, and that defendant on occasion has visited

Epstein homes. While the existence of arelationship among putative co-conspirators
almost always is admissible in a conspiracy case, it alone does not remotely approach
a sufficient aflegation of a criminal conspiracy.

The last three paragraphs the défendant cites (44 43-45) allege that the defendant, at

The Mvitation of Epstein and Maxwell, engaged ifisexual acts with plaintiff without ™

her consent, knowing her age, and knowing that she was a sex-trafficking victim
being forced to engage in those acts. 1f the allegations of the last three paragraphs
are irue, as they must be regarded fot purposes of this motion, they actions would
have been reprehensible. No doubt a defendant prosecutor or plaintiff might argue that the
evenis alleged could be considered as evidence of an unlawfui agreement. But they are
consistent as well with the absence of a conspiracy or of any intention to ajd and abet the

commission of predicate crimes by Epstein and/or Maxwell, As the complaint on this

- motion must be construed in a light most favorable to the plaintiff, these allegations are

insufficient to carry the day for the defendant on his-theoty. At trial, should the case proceed

that Far, he perhaps could have an opportunity to prove that Prince-Andrew could have been -

sued successfully in Floridaon a § 225 5 claim, in'which case these claims might be pertinent
to an assertion of the release defense in this case. But this motion is not the time for that,

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a), the district court “shall have supplemental jurisdiction over
all of the claims that are so related to claims in the action within such original jurisdiction
that they form part of the same case or cOntroversy . ... . Such supplemental jurisdiction shall
include claims that include joinder or intervention of additional parties.” 28 U.S.C. §
1367(a). However, 28 U.S.C..§ 1367(c) provides that district courts may decline to exercise
supplemental jurisdiction over a claim under Section 1367(a) if “(1) the claiin raises a novel
or complex issue-of State law, (2) the claim substantially predominates over the claim or
claims over which the district court has original jurisdiction, (3) the district court has
dismissed all claims over which it has original jurisdiction, or (4) in exceptional
circumstances, there are other compelling reasous for declining jurisdiction.” Id.§ 1367(c).

Given district courts’ broad discretion to decline supplemental jurisdiction under 1367(c),
the Court can do little more than speculate about whether any state law tort claims predicated
on Section 1367 would have been within the Florida court’s subject matter jurisdiction. See,

e.g.. Utopia Provider Sys., Inc. v. Pro-Med Clinical Sys., L.L.C., 596 F.3d 1313, 1328 (11th -

Cir. 2010) {upholding swa sponie dismissal of state law claims “[g]iven the deference we
afford a district court's decision whether to exercise supplemental jurisdiction™).
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the meaning of the term “could have been included as a potential defendant” in the Florida Case

properly reflects the parties’ infent. It is enough to conclude that the meaning of this pivotal phrase

in the contract is not by any means “unambiguous and free of conflicting inferences.””” The parties

have articulated at least two teasonable interpretations of the critical language. The agreement

fherefore is ambiguous. Accordingty, the determination of thé meaning of the release language in

the 2009 Agrecment must await further proceedings.

While The foregoing is dispositive of defendant’s motion to dismiss on the basis ofthe

2009 Agreement, the Court turns now to his other arguments for dismissal, which rest on independent

2. Whether Defendant is Entitled to Enforce the Release as a Third Party
Reneficiary of the 2009 Agreement

As very general matter, the only petsons who can enforce a provision of'a contract are

parties to that contract — the people who agreed to it. The defendant was not a party to the Agreement

between Epstein and Ms. Giuffre.” Accordingly, evenif the releasing language in ‘the 2009 -

Agréement included the defendant among the persons Ms. Giufire released, the question would
remain whether the defendant may take advantage of that release under Florida law. That depends
on whether Epstein and Ms. Giuffre intended that he be able to do so — in other words, whether he
was what the law calls a third-party beneficiary of the contract.

Under Florida law, it is “[e]ssential to the right of a third party beneficiary . . . to

[enforce a contract to which he or she is not a party that] the clear intent and purpose of the contract

37

Soncoast Cmiy. Church of Boea Raton, Inc., 981 So. 2d at 655 (citations omitted).




23

{was] to dzrecrly and mbstannally bcneﬁt the ﬂnrd party N “merely incidental or consequential

-------- 50— I

~ third- party bcncﬁclary rofa contract may not suc f_ i its enforcement

a. Relevani Provisions of the Agreement

"In this case, there arc"substantiéi indications on the face of the 2009 Agreement itself

Potential Defendants” in the Florida Case, Whatever that was intended to mean, t
“primarily,” or “substantiall'y"’ benefit those persons.

As aniniti al matter, one rcasonably tnight conclude (althouoh that may not be the only

permissible mfercnce) for reasons alrcady statcd that Epstem s purpose in scckmg to obtain a
release of persons other than Epstein and the other “Second Parties” was primarily and directly to

protect himself from becoming embroiled in future litigation. That goal — even assurning that the

reqmremcnts of “clear” intention to benefit the pcrsons released “primarily” and “substantially” were

saushcd wh1ch is doubtful Wculci have bccn served fmly zf persons arouably within the releavmv

language were aware of it and, if later sued by Ms. Giuffre, successfully could have asverted the ?()09
Agreementrelease against her, Buithe 2009 Agreement contains provisions that appear to have been
intended to make sure that such persons would niot be aware of the release and, even if aware of it,

were prohibited from or at least severely limited in their ability to use it defensively.

58

Thompsonv. Com. Union Ins, Co. of New York, 250 So. 2d 259,262 (Fla. 1971} {(emphasis
added); accord, e.g., Reconco v. Integon Nat’l Ins. Co., 312 So. 3d 914, 917 (Fla. Dist. Ct.
App. 2021), review denied, No. §C21-576,2021 WL2588930(F1a June 24, 2021); Legare
v. Music & Worth Const., Inc., 486 So. 2d 1359, 1362 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1986) (holding
that the contract must “clearly establish the parties’ intent to create a vight primarily and
directly benefitting the third party’ ") (emphasis added).

55
MeKinney-Green, Inc. v. Davis, 606 So. 2d 393, 396 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1992).

that Epstcin and Ms Gtuffrc dld not cieaﬂy mtend for the releasmg language . with respect to “Other
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First, Section 4, the cbnﬁdé‘ntiality cléuse, provid,éé- in pertinent part, that

Settiement Agreement to any third party, except to the extent required by law or rule
ot in response to a validly issued subpoena from a governmental or regulatory agency.
Moreover, neither this Setrlement Agreement, nor any copy hereqf, nor the terms

hereof shall be used or disclosed in any court, arbitration, or other legal proceedings,
’11'}5”

even to anyone who might have been among the persons possibly included within its releasing

“the Parties shall not provide any copy, it whole or In part, or i any form, of this ™

. So both Epstein and Ms. Giuffre were prohibited from providing all or part of the 2009 Agreement

language.

_ The second is a portion of Section 2, the release provision, that provides:

“Additionally, as a material consideration-in settling; First Parties [Ms. Giuffre]-and —-

Second Parties [Epstein] agree that the ferms of this- Settlement Agreement are not
intended o be used by any other person nor be admissible in any proceeding or case
against or involving Jeffrey Epstein, either civil or criminal.”™'

Taken together, these provisions at least reasonably could be interpreted as meaning

that Epstein and Ms. Giuffre agreed that (1) neither would disclose the 2009 Agreement in whole or

in part to anyone except upon compulsion of legal process, and (2) no one was intended to use the

serms of the 2009 Agreement, which of course included the release language upon which the

defendant relies, in any proceeding or case “involving Jeffrey Epstein.”®

60

&l

Dkt. 32, Bx. A at 3 (emphasis added).

Id. at 2 (emphasis added). These limifations appear to attach even where the Agreement
contemplates that Epstein could reveal plaintiff’s identity in connection with “origoing or
future litigation-related or claim-related matters” Id. at 4. Section 4 anticipates that
subpoenas and other legal process could result in the agreement’s disclosure in cases like this
one, and it limits how it may be “used” even if so discovered. Whether or not disclosure

owed in whole or in part to Epstein’s ability to disclose plaintiff’s identity under the
conditions provided in Section 5 would be immaterial.

At oral argument, defendant claimed that § 7 of the agreement supports his position that he
is entitled to enforce the release. In relevant past, it provides: “Should the federal courtnot
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b Defendant’s Cases Are I'na})posire

 Defendant nevert
intended third-party beneficiary of a broad release . . . has standing to enforce that release, even

when the release does not identify that third party by name.”” That is at least an ﬁnduly broad

" gencralization.

The first case H;cit;;, Olsen v. 0°Co nnell A hei&_tha{burchaséfs of real bxoiﬁért}rrfi\}ﬁré_ “

third-party beneficiaries of a contract between sellers of that property and holders of an existing

judgment lien on it. There, however, the court indicated that the agreement existed only as a

retain jurisdiction, the Parties (and any third party) agree that the” state courts in Palm
Beach County “shall have exclusive jurisdiction over the subject matter and shall bave
personal jurisdiction over the Parties (and third parties).” Id., at 5 (emphasis added); see
Tr, Jan, 4, 2022, at 39-42. But this is unpersuasive. :

As an initial matter, the parties to the agreement had no authority to bind third parties. To
be sure, the Court recognizes that defendant’s point is different, viz. that the references to
“third parties” § 7 evidences an intention to benefit others. Perhaps. But it does not
inevitably follow that benefitting Prince Andrew or others ifi compdrable positions was a

Complicating defendant’s argument even further is the way in which the terms
“onforcoment” and “third party” are used elsewhere in the agreement. Section4— the only
other section to use the term “third party” — purports to create fights and obligations with
respect to disclosyre of the “amount of [the] seitlement.”” The reciprocal confidentiality
covenant provides: “Any third parfy who is advised of the settlement amount must sign a
document acknowledging that such third party is aware of this confidentiality provision and
is bound by t, including the provisions contained in the Settlement Agreement relating to
the enforcement of this confidentiality provision.” Dkt. 32, Ex, A at 3. It would be
eminently reasonable to interpret § 75 references to “third parties” and “enforcement” as
referring specifically § 4's reciprocal confidentiality provision, which, in addition to
employing those two terms together, is the only other place in the Agrecement where either
term appears at afl. What is more, § 7 specifies that if a breach of confidentiality were to
oceur, only “the aggrieved First or Second Parties . . . may seek a remedy with the
Court’no third party Tights attach. Jd.

Dkt. 31, at 15.
44

466 So. 2d 352 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1985).
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necessarv part of the meendmg sale of the property to the thaxd'—patty bliyers. Th'e sellers had sought '

obtaining a release of the judgment lien.” They made the deal with the judgment creditor “in order

to-affect [sic] the sale to” the buyers.™ The buyers — the unmarned third parties — were so integral

io the deal befween the sellers and the judgﬁmnécredi{or that the court hypothesized that they were

‘hkely gven actual partles to the agreement as evidenced by their execution of the ﬁotgandhxfnoggagem

.payablao [scllers] and their closing of the sale In reliance upon the agreement. " This Case bears
no resemblance to Olsen.

Defendant pomts next to Hester v. Gatlin®? and Dean v, Bennett M. Lzﬁer Ine.® both

of which mvolved auto accidents with rnultlple potenual tortfeasors. In Hester, the owner of acar
involved in 4 muli-car accident was held to be a third-party beneficiary of a release agreement that
had been executed between the plaintiff in that case and other drivers who were involved in the

accident.”” There, the release language extended to “any and all other persons and/or corporations

who are or may be hable for 1‘{1_]1117163 or damages sustamed asa result of the subJect acc1dent 70 And

in Dean, a court held that the employer of a driver who caused a fatal car accident was a thlrd—.party

és
Id.
&

Id. at 355.

132 So. 2d 660 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1976).
68

336 So. 2d'393 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1976).
69

Hester, 332 So. 2d at 660.
70

Id. at 662,




27

beneﬁcrary to a settlement agreement between the drivet’s iﬂsurahce_ eompany and the administratrik'

corporation, association or partnershrp charged with responsibility for injuries to the pérson and

property of the Undersigned, and the consequences flowing therefrom, as the result of” the fatal

aeeide .71

As Ms Gtufﬁe observes in her brref the Hester and Dean releases were conﬁrred_to

discicte events on a specific day — identifiable subject accidents Circumscribing narrowly the subject

matter of the purportedly released persons or claims.” So they too are inapposite here.

And there isa further problem common o all of defendant s cases. None of the cases

that defendant cites dtsmrssed claims against a defendant~putauve thrrd party beneﬁmary who
asserted a release defensively at the motion-to-dismiss stage.” Prince Andrew’s view of “Other
Potential Defendants,” on the other hand, seeks to confer rights on unnamed third parties that would

be orders of magmtude broader those contemplated in any of the Florida cases that have been brought

to this Court’s attention. Moreover, whrchever way' these comparlsons break they matte1 htﬂe on

the facts of this case. The ultimate goal in any case involving a contract is to determine and give
effect to the “[t]he intention of the contracting parties.”  Unlike the cases cited by the defendant,

where the parties’ intentions were perfectly plain, at Jeast by the time the cases were decided, the

intentions of Ms. Giuffre and Epstein concerning the release are anything but clear here, at least at

i
Dean, 336 .0. 2d at 394.
72

Dkt. 43,at 12-13.

Jd. at 13,
74

City of Tampa v. Thornton-Tomasetti, P.C., 646 80. 2d 279, 282 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 19943,
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this stage. The cases upon which defendant relies are of no assistance in determining those

c. The Dershowitz Argriment

Finally, the defendant neverthefess argues thathis mteﬁ)retaﬁon of the Other Potetitial

Defendants ciause is the only reasonable one on fhe basis of alleged events relatmg,*{o Alan

Dershowitz, a lawyer and retired Jaw professor whom Ms, Giuffre has sued in another case.”
Defendant asserts that Ms. Giuffre “dismissed her claims against Professor Dershowitz . ... when this.

release was raised to her as a potential defense.”™ This, accotding to Prince Andrew, proves that

the 2009 Agreemient released Mr. Dershowitz and, by parity of reasoning, the defendant in this case,

the theory apparently being that both were Other Potential Defendants in the Florida Case.
During oral argurrient, the Court questioned that argument based on its suggestion that

Mr. Dershowitz was covered by the release n the 2009 Agreement because he has been one of

75
Giuffre v. Dershowitz, No. 19-cv-3377 (LAP).
76

Tr., Jan. 4, 2022, at 11:15-20; Dkt. 32, at 2, 3-4; Dkt. 52, at2 n.1.

The argument yests on the factual premise that the release was asserted privately on behalf
of Mr. Dershowitz to Ms. Giuffre’s counsel, who acquiesced in that assertion and backed
off, with respect to his proposed addition, in Ms. Giuffre’s case against Mr. Dershowitz, of
a new battery claim when threatened with Rule | { sanctions. That factual premise is not
supported by anything in Ms. Giuffre’s complaint in this action. Part of the premise is
supported by a recital, and part contradicted by another provision, in a document filed in the
Dershowitz action of which judicial notice now is taken. Dkt 32, Ex. Hat 2. Inasmuch as
judicial notice extends only to establishing the contents of that document, but not its truith,
however, the only thing it establishes for purposes of this motion is that coutmsel for Mr.
Dershowitz and Ms. Giuffre agreed that the document “shall not at any time, or for any
purpose, be construed as an admission by either party of the validity or invalidity
of Plaintiff's battery claim or Defendant’s release defense, or the truth or falsity of the
factual predicates thereto.” Id. ¥ 4.
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Epstem s attomeys 7 and thercfore was among the “SeCond“farties” — in other words, that he was

~ covered by the rehaase mdependent of Whether he was an OtherPotentlal Defendant as the defendant

now claims that he is. On further reflection and analysis, however, the suggestion that Mr.

Dershowitz was covered because he was one of the “Second Parties” was not necessarily correct.

A release has three essential elements: (1) one Wwho givéé the r.eleéise, usﬁaliy' referred

to asa relcasor (2) ong agamst Whom the releasm glves up or surrenders somethmg, sucha perscm

usually being referred to as areleasee; and (3) a description of what 1s bemg teleased, whichmay be
general (e.g., all claims whatever that the releasor has or may have against the releasee) ot specific

(e. ] releasor $ cla]m for damaj;,es caused by the releasee § Motor Vehlcle) In Section 2, the

category of releasors is plain enough: © ‘the First Parties.” There also isa descnption of the releasees:

(1) “the Second Parties and [2] any other person or entity who could have been included as a potential
defendant (‘Other Potential Defendants’).” The problem, however, is with the claims against the
Second Parties (other than Epstein) that purportedly were released. Specifically, Section 2 says that

the clalms released were clalms that the Fxrst Partles ever had Or may have agazmt Jeﬁey Eps tein,

or Other Potential Defendants for, upon, or by reason of any matter, cause, or thing whatsoever .

7™ SQerikingly, it does not say that the First Parties released the Second Parties (other than Epstein
personally), as such, from any particular claims at all, whether all claims or some specific claims.
Accordingly, Element 3 of the essential clements of a release - the specification of what claims
against the Second Parties were being released —is missing as to the Secor}d Parties. Accordingly,

it would be reasonable, indeed, arguably unambiguously clear, that the 2009 Agreement did not

17
Tr., Jan, 4, 2022, at 12:2-4.
78
Dkt. 32, Ex. A, at 2 {emphasis added).
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release any claims agamst any Second Parties except (1) for Epstem hMSeﬁq % and '(2) th(.)_S_IE;. Second

Other Potential Defendants, whatever that is.
To be sure, it might be argued that Section 2 should be read as a broad release of all

claims that First Parties had or may have had against 411 of the Second Parties notwithstanding its

faliure to say that But that altematwe 1nterpretatmn cannot be the only reasonable view of its

meaning. Accordingly, the meaning and, indeed, as o the Second Parties as such (othier tham Epstein],

the va[idity of the release cannot be decided on this motion. The difficulty the problem presents,

however 1s relevant to the extent it demonstl ates yet again that the 2009 Agreement whatever it was

intended to mean, is riddled wlt‘n draftmg problems and amb1gu1t1es.
* & ®

The 2009 Agreement cannot be said to demonstrate, clearly and unambiguously, that
the parties mtended the mstrument dn:ectly, pnmarxly,” or substantially”to benefit Prince Andrew.
".[}1&: existence of the requ151te intent to beneﬁt hlm or others comparable td h1m is an issue of fact
that could not properly be decided on this motion even if defendant fell within the reieasmg ianguag_e,
which itself is ambiguous, Thus, independent of whether the release language applies to Prince
Andrew, the agreement, at a minimurm, is “reasonably susceptible to more than one interpretation”
on the equally important question of whether this defendant may invoke it% As amatter of Florida

law, this Court cannot rewrite the 2009 Agreement to give the defendant rights where the agreement

does not clearly manifest an intent to create them.

KL
As we have seen, Epstein was included in the definition of Second Parties.

30

See, e.g., Lambert, 680 So. 2d at 590; Miller, 789 So. 2d at 1097-98.




TI 7 The Compfamt Sfate,s Legally Si,{ff cient Cfazmg - = RS — -

Ms. Giuffre’s complaint asserts two causes of action. Both are state law tort claims,
the first for battery and the second for intentional infliction of emotional distress (“IIED”).

Defendant moves to dismiss both on the thedry that pléint[ff_ha's‘ not '.éli‘eged adequately any violation
of the New York_Pendl Code. - T - R

A Legal Principles

To survive a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), a complaint must aliege facts

sufficlent to “state a claim to rehef that is plausﬂ)le on its face S Thls standard is met where the

“pleaded factual content,” which on fhis motion must be assumed 10 be true, permits a “reasonable
inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.”®
A complami need not anuc;pate potential affirmative defenses” or “affirmatively

plead facts in av01dance of such defenses 3 As is the case W“lth defendant $ arguments predxcated

on the 2009 Agreement, the Court may not dismiss on an affirmative defense unless “the defense

appears on the face of the complaint.”™

%1
Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 663 (2009).
83

Abbas v. Dixom, 480 F.3d 636, 640 (2d Cir. 2007); see Childers v. New York & Preshyterian
Hosp., 36 F. Supp. 3d 292, 315 (S.DN.Y. 2014).

Pani. 152 F.3d at 74,




B. Analysi.‘f

—The Complaini Is Legally Sifficient e
Plaintiff’s complaint plainly alleges prima facie cases of battery and IIED under New
York law. Tndeed, defendant does not directly contest whether plaintiff’s allegations satisfy the

elements of those causes of action.

The allegation tha‘rc;iaintiff was forée—idwto si{gﬁ_defefﬂént’s lap while he touched her

is sufficient {o state a battery claim under New York law, iegardléss of whith part(s) of her body

defendant ultimately is alleged to have touched. To state such a claim, a plaintiff need allege only

that there was “bodily contact, that the contact was offensive, arid that the defendant intended to make

the contact without the plaintiff’s consent.”.“; Contact is offen;ive if it 15 “wmngful uﬁ;iér all the_
circumstances,” which certainly is a reasonable inference from Ms. Giuffre’s allegations.™ The only
intent fequired is an infent to “cause a bodily contact that a reasonable person would find
offensive.”®” Any intentional touchingeffected “for the purpose of satisfying [one’s} sexual desires”
~_or made with __lit}_gwledgg:‘rthai‘ [plaintiff] was a sexwtrafﬁcl%ing victim being forced to engage"iﬁ
sexual acts with him” would permit a reasonable person to find that thrér éllegéé -c_.:ontacfr;as

inappropriate in all of the circumstances, to say nothing of the allegedly forced sex acts or sexual

8s

Leytmanv. U. 8. Dep't of Homeland Sec. Transp. Sec. Admin., 804 F. App'x 78, 80 (2d Cir.
2020} (quoting Bastein v. Sotto, 299 A.D.2d 423, 433, 749 N.Y.S.2d 538, 539 (2d Dept.
2002)).

36

Messina v. Matarasso, 284 A.D.2d 32, 35; 729 N.Y.S.2d 4, 7 (Ist Dept. 2001) (quoting
Zgraggen v. Wilsey, 200 AD.2d 818,819, 606 N.Y.S.2d 444, 445 (3d Dept. 1994)).

87
Armstrong ex rel. Avmsirong v. Brookdale Univ, Hosp. & Med. Ctr., 425 F.3d 126, 134 (2d

Cir, 2005) (quoting JeffFeys v. Griffin, 1 N.Y.3d 34,43, 769 N.Y.S.2d 184, 189 n.Z (2d Dept.
2003)).
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intercourse.®®

ander New York law, a-plaintiff must allege “(1) extreme and outrageous conduct; (2) intent fo cause,
or reckless disregard of a substantial probability of causing, severe emotional distress; (3) a causal
connection between the conduct and the injury; and (4) severe emotional distréss.™ ;

Defendant does not challenge the complai;t’s Sufﬁ&ency as to au;y ofthese elements.

" The sufficiency of plaintiff’s IED claim 75 similarly apparent. To staiean HED claim — -

~Plaintiil has alleged severe emotional disiress.?" She allcges that it was “adirect and proxinmate result
of Prince Andrew’s criminal acts.”™ She asserts that he “knew or disregarded the substantial

Tlikelihood that [his] actions would cause Plaintiff severe emotional distress.”™? And, although she

so afleges in ber complaint, it should go without saying that the alleged conduct, if it occutred,

reasonably could be found to have gone “beyond all possible bounds of decency and is intolerable

in a civilized community.”™

Compl. | 42-48.
89

Stuto v. Fleishman, 164 F.3d 820, 827 (2d Cir. 1999) (citing Howell v. New York Post Co.,
81 N.Y.2d 115, 121, 596 N.Y.8.2d 350, 353 {1993)).

90
Compl. 1 68, 73.
at

21
1d.972.

Id % 71; see Chanko v. Am. Broad. Companies Inc., 97 N.Y.3d 46, 56, 29 N.Y.S.3d 879
(2016) (defining extreme and outrageous coriduct as that which is “so extreme in degree, as
1o go heyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and utterly
intolerable in a civilized community”) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted);
Farrell v. US. Olympic & Paralympic Comm., No. 20-CV-1178 (FIS/CFH), 2021 WL
4820251, at*9 (N.D.NUY. Oct. 15, 2021).




34

2. Defendant’s Contention that the Plaintiff Was Obli gecf to Plead Specific Facts

Abandoning reference to the causes of action in the complaint, defendant seeks
dismissal on the ground that plaintiff “has not adequately alleged a violation of the New York Penal
Code.” He insists that plaintiff is required to allege “conduct which would constitute a sexual

offense ds defined in article one hundred thirty of the penal law.””> The argument relies heavily on
g

the observation that plaintiff’s claims would be time-barred but for the New York Child Victims Act

(*CVA™), which revived child sex abuse claims “tied to an a}l]eged violation of New York criminal
law.”
~ Defendant’s view-of the pleading standard is at odds with the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure. Rule 8 requires only “a short and plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader
is entitled 1o relief” on the theory asserted.”’ Here, the C'VA does not create plaintiff's cause of
action. She is required only to plead facts sufficient to allege battery and MED. Whether any of the
alleged conduct rose to a vialation of New York Penal Law goes only to the question whether Ms.
“Giuffre’s claims are time-barred —that is, to afi affirmative defense. “When defendant asserts such—

a defense, it will be his burden to establish that the claims are untimely. Whatever hurdles the CVA

ultimately requires plaintiff to clear to defeat a statute of limitations defense are not relevant on this

o4

Dkt. 31, at 19,
G5

Id. (quoting and adding emphasis to N.Y.CPLR § 214-2).
96

N.Y. CPLR § 214-g; Holloway v. Holy See, No, 19 Civ. 2195 (NRB), 2021 WL 1791456,
at *2 1.2 (8. D.N.Y. May 5, 2021).

97

Frn. R. CIv. P. 8(a)(2).
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motion.”®

3 Plainiiff’s HED and Battery Claims Are Not Duplicative
The defendant argues next that Ms. Giuflre’s HIED claim should be dismissed as
duplicative of her battery claim. He says this is s0 becase “under well-established New York Law,

‘claims are duplicative when both arise from the same facts and seek the identical damages for each

alleged breach.”™ But Ms. Giuffre’s claims do neither.
Defendant’s motion misunderstands the two cabises of action. Plaintiff’s IED claim
arises, at least in part, &6;&1 alleged conduct that forms no elemeﬁt of her battery claim. Ms. Giuftre
alleges, among other potentially dxstmgmshmgconduct -t;at tile dé}en&;ﬁt c;lserc;her to mtnessthe

abuse of another vietim.'® That allegation thus alleges injury flowing from different conduct than

the alleged non-consensual physical contact. Asa claim is not duplicative where a plaintiff has set

o8

OFf course, the complaint does allege that the conduct rises to the level of an Article 130
violation, “including but not limited to sexual misconduct as defined in Article 130:20, rape
in the third degree as defined in Article 130.25, rape in the first degree as defined in Arxticle
130.35, forcible touching as defined in Article 130.52, sexual abuse in the third degree as.
defined in Article 130.55, and sexual abuse in the first degree as defined in article 130.65,”
supported by her actual allegations. Compl. 4 67. There is no colorable argument that
defendant’s statute of limitations defense appears son the face of the complaint.” Pani, | 52
F.3d al 74; ¢f Doe v. Baram, 20 Civ. 9522 (ER), 2021 WL 4847076 (S.DN.Y. Oct. 15,
2021) (denying motion to dismiss even where complaint did not cife specific provisions of
Article 130),

99

Dikt. 31 at 24 (quoting Deutsche Bank Nai'l Trust Co. v. Quicken Loans Inc., 810 F.3d 861,
869 (2d Cir. 2015) (internal citations and quotation marks omitted) (applying New York
taw)).

Compl. §39.




36

forward “substantiating conduct that differs from . . other causes of ac’&imn,”“’1 her IIED claim is not

duplicafive of her battery claim. Regardless of what share of her injuries, if any, is dueto battéry
commitied against her person, her IIED claim therefore must be permitted at this stage to proceed

because she has alleged potentially tortious conduct in addition to battery. Moreover, as defendant

" admitted during oral argument, the single satisfaction rule would foreclose plaintiff from recovering

more than once for any given harm.'®

More substantially, The two claims {6 not seek identical relief. Even though plaintiff
seeks damages on each claim, her requested relief does not-entirely overlap. To be sure, Ms. Giuffre

asserts that the alleged battery caused some measure of “extreme emotional distress” and

“nsychological trauma.”"* But when drawing all inferencesin plaintiff’s favor, the complaint pleads
facts sufficient to allow a reasonable jury to return a damages award on emotional distress thatis over
and above what it might award on baftery. As it stands, any risk of duplicative recovery may be

resolved by jury instructions.'® It is for these reasons that battery and IIED claims routinely proceed

1ol
Schooleraft v. City of New York, 103 T. Supp. 3d 465, 521 (S.D.N.Y. 2015); see also Chau
v. Donovan, 357 F. Supp. 3d 276, 288-89 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) (holding a defendant’s text
messages pressuring plaintiff to engage in sex supported a separate I[ED claim since that
“potentially tortious conduct” was not subsumed by any theory of battery).

102
Tr., Fan. 4, 2022, at 20-21.

103
Compl. ] 68,

104
See Bender v. City of New York, 78 F.3d 787, 793, 794 n.5 (2d Cir. 1996) {concluding that
“4i feast part of the injury . . . suffered from the battery—ermotional pain and suffering-—is
part of the injuty . . . suffered from the emotiona) injury tort” and suggesting the following
language for a jury instruction to prevent duplicative awards: “Any damage award for the
emotional distress claim must be limited to the component of injury you find sustained for
this claim, if any, over and above whatever emotional distress you have already compensated
by your awards for other claims™).
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in tandem under New York law.'®

[l The Atiack on the Constitutionality of the New York Child Victims Act Is Without Merit

The final ground on which defendant moves to dismiss the complaint is that the

(VA’s claim-revival provision — in other words, the limited extension of the statdté of limitations

for civil claims by child victims of sexual abuse —is ﬁncoﬁ-s_thitutiﬂc;nai. _épecgﬁcalig}; 'he_'éi}guéé "_t_}_iat

The New York State Legislature violated the Due Process Clause of the New Y ork Constitution wher

it temporarily revived child sexual abuse clams that otherwise would have been too late.™

103
See, e.g., Laurie Marie M. v. Jeffrey T.M., 816 F.3d 214,227 (2d Cir. 2016); Chau 357 F.
Supp. 3d at 288; Canosa v. Ziff; No. 18 Civ. 41153 (PAE), 2019 W1 498865, at *27
(5.DN.Y. Jan. 28, 2019); Doe . Alsaud, 224 F. Supp. 3d 286,295 (S.D.N.Y. 2016).

106
See N.Y. CONST. art. 1, § 6; N.Y. CPLR § 214-g. Atoral argument, defendant shifted his

ground extensively, suggesting that former Governor Andrew Cuomo twice extended the
revival period fixed by the Legislature for the commencement of actions covered by the Act

by executive order and that the Governor’s action was unconstitutional. Tr., Jan. 4,2022,

at 22-26. This argument is based on an inaccurate factual premise, comes too late, and is
without merit in any case.

First, this argument surfaced only during oral argument. As new arguments first made in a
reply brief are too late, it follows necessarily that the same is frue of new arguments first
raised at oral argument.

Second, it is true that the Goverrior extended the original extension period, buthe did so only
once, see Executive Order No. 202.29, Continuing Temporary Suspension and Modification
of Laws Relating to the Disaster Emergency (May 8, 2020), not twice-as defendant claimed,
and the Legislature subsequently extended it again. See 2020 Sess. Law News of N.Y. Ch.
130 (S. 7082) (McKinney). Thus, the timeliness of plaintiffs suit depends only on the
Legislature’s action, hot the Governor’s.

Third, the Court sees no meaningful distinction between the Legislature’s enactment of the
originaj revival statute and its later extension of it. Accordingly, the constitutionality of the
revival of the limitations period turns entirely on whether the New York Eegislature deprived
Prince Andrew of constitutional rights by reviving the limitations period, either generally or
as applied to this case. The Court thinks not.
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by every New York state and federal court to have encountered it % And it has been rejected

“repeatedly for good reason. - :
Drawing primarily on New York cases from the 1920s and 1950s,'* defendant urges
that “[nlearly a hundred years of precedent make clear that claim revival is permitted only when there

is an injustice of a type that makes a plaintiff legally unable to sue[]”'® Whatever the historical

practice may have been, the New York Courtof App_géls recently made clear that the test for whether

a claim-revival statute runs afoul of the New York Due. Piocess Clatise is simply whether the revival
statute is “a reasonable measure to address aninj ustice.”11? The CVA’s timited claim-revival window

was a reasonable measure to address an inj Lstice and well within bounds of the new legal standard

articulated shortly before its passage. As another judge of this Court recently concluded with respect

to Ms. Giuffre’s pending action against Mr. Dershowitz, “New York Courts’ historical skepticism
of claim-revival provisions appears Lo be just that: historical. ™"

Defendant suggests that the Legislature “|acked the constitutional authority to revive

107

Farrell, 2021 WL 4820251, at *9 - PC-41 Doe v. Poly Prep Country Day Sch., 20-CV-
03628 (DG) (31B), 2021 WL 4310891, at *7 (E.DN.Y. Sept. 22, 2021); PC-41 Doe, 2021
WL 791834, at*1 (E.DIN.Y. Mar. 1. 2021); PB-36 Doev. Niagara Falls City Sch. Dist., 152
N.Y.S.3d 242, 248 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Niagara Co. 2021); Torrey v. Portville Cent. Sch., No.
88476, 2020 WL 856432, at ¥4 (NY. Sup. Ct. Caftaraugus Co. Feb. 21, 2020); ARK3 Doe
v, Diocese of Rockville Ctr., No. 9000010/2019 (N.Y, Sup, Ct. Nassau Co. May 11, 2020};
Giuffre v. Dershowitz, 19-cv-3377 (LAP), 2020 WL 21232 14,at*2 (S.D.NLY. Apr. 8, 2020).

108
Dki, 31, at 24-26.

Id at2s.
110

In re World Trade Cir. Lower Mankiattan Disaster Site Litig., 30 N.Y.3d 377, 400, 67
N, Y.58.3d 547 (2017,

1l

Dershowitz, 2020 WL 2123214, at *2.
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{,lanns” for sexual abuse plamhﬂfs who have “reached adulthood . . . within thé applicable three-

limitations to bar claims of child sexual abuse causes no “injustice’ where “those who wished to sue
were not barred from doing so” solety because they were minors — in other words, where the victims

becamo adults at a time when they could have brought suit before the statute of limitations period

exp1red He The Court of Appeals howeve1 “has made clear also that * [1]n the context of a

abusers pose to public safety. 1o Each of these is capable of msulatmo both the 1mt1a1 one-year

to the eleuted branches of ;:ovemment

claim-revival statute, there 18 no pfmmpl@d way Tor a court fo test Whefher a particular injustice is

“serious” or whether a particular class of plaintiffs is blameless; such moral determinations are left

EEIRE

As Ms. Giuffre notes in her opposition, arange of le glslatwe _]udgments undergxrd the
provision’s patent constitutionality, both on its face and as applied to her claims."® These include
New York’s comparatively restrictive limitations period for sexual abuse claims, improved

understanding of victims’ baxriers to coming forward with those claims, and the imminent threat that

revival window and its subsequent extension from a New York Due Process Ciause-challenge,- {0 say
nothing of the latter measure’s relationship to ensuring access 10 justice during a global pandemic.

As to whether the claim-revival legislation represents a “reagsonable measure,”

Dkt. 31 at 26-27.
113
Id at27.
114
I re World Trade Ctr. Lower Manhattan Disasier Site Litig., 30 N.Y 3d at 400.
113
Dkt. 43 at 30,
116

See id.
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defendant’s most discernable objection is that “thé.legisiature hastily passed legislation to amend the

CVA by doubling the claim-revival period from ope year to {wo.” 7 He contends that the™
Legislature’s one-year extension. was not a “reasonable response” in light of the Governor’s near-
contemporaneous executive order extending the filing window by five months on account of COVID-

19. He argues also that there is “no indication” that the New York Court of Appeals “ever [has]

approved of a legislature’s extension of the deadline for ﬁingtxm&barred claims in the middle of

the original claim-revival period.®

With or without a global pandemic, New Y ork’s modest two-year revival window was

a reasonable measure for remedying injustice to victims without treading upon the state

Constitution’s Due Process Clause. Not only was it reasonable, it was modest compared to the claim-
revival measures adopted by other state legislatures in the child sex abuse context. Numerous states
have opened Tevival windows that were two years of longer from their inception, some of which were

later extended for additional multiyear periods."® Other jurisdictions have enacted indefinite claim-

zevival wiydgws.‘zo And in some of the states that have adopted an age-based approach, Ms.

117
Dkt. 31 at 28.
118

id.

119

See, e.g., 10 DEL. CODE § 8145(b) (opening two-year window beginning in 2007); Sheehan
v. Oblates of St. Francis de Sales, 15 A.3d 1247, 1258-59. (Del. 2011) {confirming
constitutionality); 2013 Minn. Sess. Law Serv. Ch. 89 § 5(d) (amending MINN. STAT. §
514.073) (opening three year window beginning in 2013); K.E. v. Hoffman, 452 N.W.2d
509, 513-14 (Minn. 1990) (confirming constitutionality of initial revival period); Haw. REV.
STAT. § 657-1.8(2)(b) (extending original two-year window to eight years).

120

See. e.g, 12 V. STAT. ANN. § 522(a); 7 G.C.A. § 11301.1(b).
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Giuffre’s cianns would have remamed timely for at least another 'decade.m Certainly, each of those

relevant to show that the measures here selected by the New York Legislature were among the most
inilored and most mindful of the due process concerns defendant emphasizes in his motion. It is
difficult to imagine subs}cantially' narrower measles capable of addressing the injus'tiees'animating

the CVA Indeed -Our attentlon has not been called to any state or terrltory that ever has adopted a

sexual abuse claim-revival window shorter than one year.
Defendant’s observation that the CVA revived claims for those who suffered harm

asa result of sexual abuse when they were under the agc of elghteen, when the New York age of

consent for other purposes now is seventeen, does not bear on the CVA’s con%tstutmnahty 12 There
arc many ways a plaintiff may establish that a sexual act was committed without his or her consent.
Such acts also may be ponconsensual on more than one legal theory. True, lack of consent is
established as a matter of law for 1nd1v1duals who were under the age of seventeen at the time of the
effe_;}se. 7]73ut'.t§at faet says nothmg of the reasonableness of revwmg claxms of others who were over
seventeen but less than gighteen when they were abused. Lack of consent in such cases can be
established at least by physical force or actual or implied threats. Contrary to his assertion,

defendant’s concerns ovet “false memories™ and other evidentiary matters are not always greater in

cases in which the alleged victim claims that be or she acquiesced as a result of such duress.”” Even

See, e.g., 9 R.L GEN. LAWS § 9-1-51 (opening window untit age 53 as against perpetrators);
MASS. GEN. LAWS ¢h.260 § 4C (opening y window until age 53 asagainst perpetrators); Sliney
v. Previte, 41 N.E3d 732, 739-43 (Mass. 2013) (confirming constltuhonahty)

122

See Dkt. 52 at 8.

Id.
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where a claimant can estabiish lack of consent as a matter of law, other evidence — including

' subj ective ewdence often 18 requxred to prove the conduct that actually occurred Defend'ant"s' far="

reaching speculation about what evidence will or will not be relevant to the issue of consent, both inn

this case and in others like it, is no basis for distinguishing between claims brought by victims who

were under seventeen and those where were under cighteen. The CVA’s credtion of & narrow

window for allowing previously time-barred child sexual abuse claims to proceed is neither more nor

Toss Toasonable for having set the upper agé limit for those who benefit from 1 that window atage
cighteen rather than setting it at the legal age of consent, seventeen.

Lackmg persuaswe ieoal authonty with whichto questlon the CVA’s constxtutlonahty,

defendant’s motion falls back onto doctrinal anach:omsm and inapposite authontv on claxm revwai
at common law.?* Accordingly, as another court in our Circuit has put it, “while [his] argument

regarding unconstitutionality is creative, it is . . . without merit.”"*?

IV Defendant Is Not Entitled to a More Deﬁmie Statemenr He erl Get rhe Detail He Seeks
“ During Discovery, = -

Deferdant’s alternative motion for a more definile statement is similarly meritless.
As defendant correctly observes, Rule 12(e) atfords relief where the complaint “is so vague or
ambiguous that the [defendant] cannot reasonably preparc a response.”™ That Rule, however,

entitles movants to a more definite statement only where the complaint is so vague or ambiguous as

See Dkt. 31 at 26 (relymg on Zumpano v. Quinn, 6 N.Y.3d 666(2006) to suggest that the
CVA revival provision goes beyond “the scope of . . . legislative authority™).

125
PC-41 Doe, 2021 WL 791834, at *1.
126

FED. R. CIV. P. 12(e).
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to be umntelhgxble

Ms. Giufire’s complamt is nelther umnte!hglble noxr vague ot “ambigtious, It

alleges discrete incidents of sexunal abuse in particular circumstances at three identifiable locations.
It-identifies to whom it attributes that sexual abuse.

Defendant nevertheless holds out that he cannot reasonably prepare aresponse because

plaintiff has not described “what purported sexual contact occurred , . . when and where the i_ncidé'ﬁt'

occurred, or the forcible compulsion she was under due {o express or iniplied threat”™ to the degree

of specificity that he would like.” While he understandably seeks mote detail about the precise

detalls of p]amtlff’ s clalms he W111 be able to obtain that detail durmg pretnal discovery.™™

Moreover, defendant’s assertion that he cannot reasonablv prepare a response 1o plamtltt 5

allegations plainly contradicts the content of his moving papers, in which he denies Ms. Giutfre’s

allegations in no uncertain terms."

Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, defendant’s motion to dismiss the complaint or for a more

definite statement is denied in all réspects. Given the Court’s limited task of ruling on this motion,

127

See Kok v. First Unum Life Ins. Co., 154 F. Supp. 2d 777, 781-82 (S.D.NY. 2001); Kelly
v. LL. Cool J, 145 FR.D. 32,35 (S DNY. 1992), aff'd, 23F3d398 (2d Cir, 1994).

Dkt 31 at 29.

(29
See, e.g., Casellav. Hugh O°Kane Elec. Co., No. 00 Civ. 2481 (LAK), 2000 WL 1530021,
at *] n.2 (S.D.INY. Oct. 17, 2000).

136

Dkt. 31 at | (“Prince Andrew never sexually abused or assaulted Giuffre. He unequivocally
denies Giuffre’s false accusations against him.”™).
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not}ung in this opmlon or prewously in these proceedmgs pmperly may ‘b construed as md}cahng

in entering into the 2009 Agreement.
SO ORDERED.

Dated: Januaryl1, 2022

PACTAANA . %0 20 &
Lewis ‘A.\Karﬁan

United States District Judge



